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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA,

MINUTE ORDER  

TIME: 01:30:00 PM 
JUDICIAL OFFICER PRESIDING: Shama Mesiwala

COUNTY OF SACRAMENTO
 GORDON D SCHABER COURTHOUSE 

 DATE: 08/10/2021  DEPT:  53

CLERK:  P. Lopez
REPORTER/ERM: 
BAILIFF/COURT ATTENDANT: Alvi, N., T. Elder

CASE INIT.DATE: 10/05/2020CASE NO: 34-2020-00286475-CU-CR-GDS
CASE TITLE: Kincaid vs. San Juan Unified School District
CASE CATEGORY: Civil - Unlimited

EVENT TYPE: Motion for Summary Judgment and/or Adjudication - Civil Law and Motion -
MSA/MSJ/SLAPP

STOLO
APPEARANCES STOLO
Scott Rafferty, counsel, present for Plaintiff(s) remotely via video.
Domenic D Spinelli, counsel, present for Defendant(s) remotely via video.

Stolo
Nature of Proceeding: Motion for Summary Judgment and/or Adjudication

TENTATIVE RULING

Defendant San Juan Unified School District moves for summary adjudication of the first cause of action
for violation of the California Voting Rights Act in Plaintiffs Magali Kincaid, Benito Juarez Neighborhood
Association, Neighborhood Elections Now, Juan Yniguez, Carolina Flores, and Damaris Canton. The
motion is ruled on as follows.

Defendant's request for judicial notice is granted. The Court does not grant Plaintiffs' late requests for
judicial notice. 

Plaintiffs filed their complaint on October 5, 2020, alleging causes of action for (1) violation of the
California Voting Rights Act, and (2) violation of 52 U.S.C. § 10301(b) and constitutional provisions. 

Defendant's motion is made on the grounds there is no effective relief for the Court to grant because the
San Juan Unified School District Board of Education has agreed to trustee area elections. Defendant
alleges Elections Code section 10010 provides a safe harbor if a political subdivision passes a
resolution, and a prospective plaintiff shall not commence an action to enforce Sections 14027 and
14028 within 90 days of the resolution's passage. Defendant argues the safe harbor has been tolled by
the Governor's Emergency Orders, and Plaintiffs' action is premature and improper because
administrative remedies set forth in Elections Code section 10010(e) before commencing an action to
enforce the California Voting Rights Act under Elections Code section 14027 and 14028 against
Defendant. Defendant argues exhaustion is an element of Plaintiffs' cause of action, it is lacking here,
and exhaustion is set forth as an affirmative defense by Defendant in its answer. 

The Court notes that Plaintiffs' opposition was filed late. Pursuant to the Code, the opposition briefing
was due two weeks before the original hearing of date of July 28, 2021, which was July 14, 2021. (See
Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(b)(2).) The opposition briefing was filed on July 19, 2021. The opposition does
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not address the untimeliness of the opposition. However, given that Defendant was able to file a reply
(one day early, in fact), the Court will exercise its discretion to consider the opposition. 

Legal Standard

In evaluating a motion for summary judgment or summary adjudication, the Court engages in a
three-step process. 

First, the Court identifies the issues as framed by the pleadings. The pleadings define the scope of the
issues on a motion for summary judgment or summary adjudication. (FPI Dev. Inc. v. Nakashima (1991)
231 Cal.App.3d 367, 381-382.) Because a motion for summary judgment/adjudication is limited to the
issues raised by the pleadings (Lewis v. Chevron (2004) 119 Cal.App.4th 690, 694), all evidence
submitted in support of or in opposition to the motion must be addressed to the claims and/or defenses
raised in the pleadings. The Court cannot consider an unpleaded issue in ruling on a motion for
summary judgment/adjudication. (Roth v. Rhodes (1994) 25 Cal.App.4th 530, 541.) The papers filed in
response to a defendant's motion for summary judgment/adjudication may not create issues outside the
pleadings and are not a substitute for an amendment of the pleadings. (Tsemetzin v. Coast Federal
Savings & Loan Assn. (1997) 57 Cal.App.4th 1334, 1342.)

Next, the Court must determine whether the moving party has met its burden. A defendant moving for
summary judgment/adjudication bears the burden of persuasion that one or more elements of the
plaintiff's cause of action cannot be established, or that there is a complete defense to the cause of
action. (Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 850, quoting Code Civ. Proc. §
437c(p)(2). A defendant is not required to conclusively negate one or more elements of the plaintiff's
cause of action. (Saelzer v. Advance, Group 400 (2001) 25 Cal.4th 763, 780-781.) Rather, to meet its
burden, the defendant is only required to show that the plaintiff cannot prove an element of its cause of
action, i.e., that the defendant does not possess and cannot reasonably obtain evidence necessary to
show this element. (Aguilar, 25 Cal.4th at 853-855.)

At the same time, a defendant cannot shift the burden simply by suggesting the possibility that the
plaintiff cannot prove the case; a moving defendant must still make "an affirmative showing" in support of
its motion. (See id. at 854-855, fn. 23; Addy v. Bliss & Glennon (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 205, 214.)

Once the moving party has met its burden, the burden shifts to the opposing party to show that a
material factual issue exists as to the cause of action alleged or a defense to it. (Code Civ. Proc. §
437c(p); see generally Bush v. Parents Without Partners (1993) 17 Cal.App.4th 322, 326-327.) In ruling
on the motion, the Court must consider the evidence and inferences reasonably drawn therefrom in the
light most favorable to the party opposing the motion. (Aguilar, 25 Cal.4th at 843.)

Factual Background

Defendant's separate statement includes the following:

On February 6, 2020, Plaintiffs, through counsel, presented Defendant a petition under the California
Voting Rights Act ("CVRA") to move to trustee area voting. (UMF 1.) The San Juan Unified School
District Board passed Resolution Nos. 2982 & 2983 in response to Plaintiffs' CVRA request to move to
trustee area voting. (UMF 2.) Resolution 2982 recognized that Board members are elected in
even-numbered years and serve staggered, four-year terms, with the next election scheduled for
November 2020 for three Board members and the remaining two Board members scheduled for election
in November 2022. (UMF 3.) Resolution 2982 recognized that transitioning from the District's current
at-large election to a trustee area election which would minimize the potential for litigation against the
District under the CVRA, embodied in Elections Code section 14025, et seq. (UMF 4.) 

MINUTE ORDER  DATE: 08/10/2021   Page 2 
DEPT:  53 Calendar No. 



CASE TITLE: Kincaid vs. San Juan Unified School
District

CASE NO: 34-2020-00286475-CU-CR-GDS

The District entered the safe harbor provisions of Elections Code section 10010, precluding any CVRA
lawsuit against them. (UMF 5.) On April 9, 2020, the Governor issued Executive Order N-48-20, which
tolled the safe harbor provisions of Elections Code section 10010. (UMF 6.) Defendant has already had
one requisite public meeting requiring to move to trustee area elections. (UMF 7.) 

Resolution 2991 was adopted by the Board on April 28, 2020, pursuant to Executive Order N-48-20,
issued on April 9, 2020. (UMF 8.) Executive Order N-48-20 paused the transition to trustee area
elections because the Executive Order tolled the safe harbor provisions. (UMF 9.) Per Resolution 2983,
a public hearing was held to gather public input regarding potential trustee-area boundaries. (UMF 10.) 

Defendant held a special meeting at the Board of Education on March 31, 2020, telephonically, to gather
public input regarding potential trustee area boundaries. (UMF 11.) Governor Newsom's Executive
Order expressly extends the safe harbor provision to move to trustee-area elections - given that it
requires individuals to choose between safety and the democratic process. (UMF 12.) The Governor's
Orders specify that the safe harbor provisions of Election Code section 10010 are tolled. (UMF 13.) 

Plaintiffs filed their action on October 5, 2020. Defendant filed a general demurrer and motion to strike.
On March 22, 2021, the Court issued its final rulings. The Court explained that, due to the demurrer
being a general demurrer, it could only be sustained if no count of the complaint stated facts sufficient to
entitle Plaintiffs to relief on any theory. (B & P Dev. Corp. Co. v. City of Saratoga (1986) 185 Cal.App.3d
949, 952-953; Warren v. Atchison, T. & S. F. Ry. Co. (1971) 19 Cal.App.3d 24; California Trust Co. v.
Cohn (1932) 214 Cal. 619, 628.)

The ruling summarized the case as follows:

The Plaintiff challenge the "at-large method of voting for the Board of Trustees ("Board") for the SJUSD
alleging that "it unlawfully dilutes and abridges the votes of Latino voters" in violation of the CVRA.
(Compl. ¶ 1.) Plaintiffs assert their "action is filed on behalf of Latino citizens of SJUSD whose right to an
undiluted vote and a right to influence the governance of SJUSD has been abridged on the basis of
race, color, or membership in a language minority group." (Id.) Plaintiffs contend that the "at-large,
winner-take-all method of voting denies Latino voters an equal opportunity to elect candidates of their
choice in school board elections" and "abridges the voting rights of Latino citizens by preventing the
identification, recruitment, and promotion of natural leaders from disadvantaged neighborhoods." (Id.)
Plaintiffs contend that the "chronic absence of authentic and viable Latino candidates of choice from
communities such as Arden-Arcade . . . disempowers the entire Latino community" abridging "Latino
influence in trustee elections and in the governance of the SJUSD after trustees are elected.
Additionally, Plaintiffs assert that "[a]t-large election also discriminates against Black voters and
low-income neighborhoods generally. Trustee area elections are more competitive and more
accountable, which benefits voters, neighborhoods, and students of all races." (Id.)

Plaintiffs' introductory allegations anticipate SJUSD's contention that this action is premature due to the
litigation "safe harbor" in the Elections Code and the Governor's emergency suspension of the safe
harbor period. In that respect, Plaintiffs allege that paragraphs 79-112 of the Complaint demonstrate the
safe harbor does not apply to SJUSD. Instead, Plaintiffs allege that SJUSD "never made a timely
commitment to comply in 2020" and "also violated an enforceable undertaking to consult plaintiff and
seek agreement prior to any delay in implementation." (Compl. ¶3.) Plaintiffs also assert that the
Governor's Executive Order N-48-20 does not excuse SJUSD's alleged noncompliance with the CVRA,
and argue that the executive order should instead "be construed so that it does not bar access to the
courts." (Id.) Further, Plaintiffs contend that the Board's decision to call another "at-large election in 2020
violates the federal Voting Rights Act of 1965" which Plaintiffs state has no "safe harbor." (Id.)
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Plaintiffs' introductory allegations state that "[u]nless SJUSD continues to dispute this Court's jurisdiction
over the CVRA claim, and unless it succeeds in doing so, the federal count and the factual allegations
related to state jurisdiction and to the federal count (paragraphs 64-124) are not essential and should not
be litigated." (Compl. ¶ 4.) Nonetheless, Plaintiffs follow that observation with the assertion that "there is
a good faith basis to claim intent to deprive Latino voting rights (paragraphs 124 to 143), which is highly
probative to the federal claims" but Plaintiffs "prefer to resolve the Complaint based on the CVRA." (Id.)

Plaintiffs assert that "[b]ecause Latinos care passionately about the education of their children,
neighborhood school board elections are the gateway to the political incorporation of Latino
communities. At-large election means disadvantaged communities within SJUSD are seldom the targets
of political campaigns, receive limited political mobilization, and enjoy almost no organized voter
registration. The inability to influence SJUSD elections creates a cycle of decline in Latino voter turnout
and participation at all levels. As a result, political choices do not reflect needs and values that Latinos
cohesively support, such as increased funding for education. (Compl. ¶ 11.) Plaintiffs claim that "[b]ut for
Latino voters statewide, Proposition 51 (providing $9 billion in bonds for education) would not have
passed. Local ballot measures to support SJUSD are disproportionately supported by those Latinos who
do vote, so suppressing Latino turnout limits the level of bond and parcel tax support for which SJUSD
may seek and obtain voter approval." (Compl. ¶ 11.)

Plaintiffs contend that "[t]hroughout American history, immigrants, first-generation Americans, and
members of racial and language minorities protected by the Voting Rights Act have run for school
trustee and other single-member districts and progressed from these local offices to service in state and
federal elected positions. Natural Latino leaders in SJUSD lack these opportunities and have few role
models for elected public service in their neighborhoods. Given the exceptional size of the District, this
abridgment of the voting rights of its Latinos and other minorities may have enduring effects on the
quality of democracy statewide." (Compl. ¶ 12.)

Thus, Plaintiffs "seek a declaration from this Court that the at-large method of election violates the CVRA
(or in the alternative, the federal Act), a permanent injunction prohibiting SJUSD from holding any further
at-large elections for trustee (or in the alternative an injunction prohibiting the certification of the results
of any such election), and an order establishing an independent citizens' commission." (Compl. ¶ 17.)
The independent commission envisioned by Plaintiffs would "create trustee areas for elections from
November 2022 until 2032 in a manner that fully complies (sic) the CVRA, Elections Code, Section
14027, et seq., as well as with all other relevant constitutional and statutory requirements." (Id.)

Plaintiffs represent that they "attempted to avoid litigation by petitioning the trustees to comply with the
CVRA, in accordance with the process established in AB 350 (2015). On February 8, 2020, SJUSD
received a notice of possible violation (addressed to trustee Nazima Creason in her official capacity as
clerk to the Board) pursuant to Elections Code, Section 10010(e). SJUSD had 45 days (i.e., until March
24, 2020) to declare its intent to create trustee areas for the (sic) November 2020." (Compl. ¶ 22.)

On March 10, 2020, the Board passed resolution 2982, "stating 'its intent to move to a by-trustee area
election system,' but failing to commit to doing so in 2020. Instead, the Superintendent and four of five
trustees strongly objected to complying in 2020. If the resolution had complied with AB 350, SJUSD
would have had 90 days (i.e., until June 8, 2020) to conduct five hearings, adopt a trustee area map,
submit it to the County Committee on School District Organization (pursuant to Education Code, section
5019, 5020, and 5030) for approval and to the Sacramento County Registrar of Voters by July 1, 2020,
for implementation in November 2020. More than 90 days have passed since SJUSD adopted the
resolution of intent, providing an additional reason this action is timely pursuant to Elections Code,
Section 10010(e)(3)(B)." (Compl. ¶¶ 23, 24, 81.)

MINUTE ORDER  DATE: 08/10/2021   Page 4 
DEPT:  53 Calendar No. 



CASE TITLE: Kincaid vs. San Juan Unified School
District

CASE NO: 34-2020-00286475-CU-CR-GDS

Plaintiffs allege that SJUSD engaged in acts of misrepresentation to them and to the Governor which
resulted in the Governor's issuance of his Executive Order N-48-20 on April 9, 2020 and the statewide
suspension of the time frames in Elections Code, Section 10010. (Compl. ¶¶ 86-99.)

The Governor's Executive Order N-48-20 is based upon concerns of holding public hearings like those
specified in the CVRA that would endanger public health and safety, and would force Californians to
choose between fully participating in the democratic process or safeguarding their health and that of
their communities. In his order, the Governor expressly found that "strict compliance" with statutes
"would prevent, hinder, or delay appropriate actions to prevent and mitigate the effects of the Covid-19
pandemic..." (Compl. ¶ 99.) In that respect, the Governor's order states, "[t]he timeframes set forth in
Elections Code section 10010, subdivisions (a) and (e), are suspended as to any political subdivision of
the State. The purpose of this suspension is to protect public health and safety during the period when
the State Public Health Officer and other public health officials have determined that it is necessary to
engage in physical distancing to minimize the spread of Covid-19. This suspension shall be in effect until
further notice.... This paragraph pauses the timeframes set forth in Elections Code section 10010,
subdivisions (a) and (e), but does not restart them: this paragraph should be construed to toll those
timeframes, such that days elapsed during the suspension set forth in this paragraph are not counted,
but any days that elapsed prior to that suspension are still counted..." (Id.)

Plaintiffs allege that the Governor's order suspending the hearings required under Elections Code
section 10010 would not prevent SJUSD from conducting the hearings, or doing so by teleconference as
it had done before the Governor's order issued. (Compl. ¶ 100.) Plaintiffs allege that SJUSD conducted
remote hearings on four occasions after the Governor's order, but not on the proposed transition from
at-large to trustee area elections. (Compl. ¶ 104.)

Plaintiffs allege that, because the Governor's order restricts their access to the courts, under Article I,
Section 3(b)(2) of the California Constitution, this Court should construe the order to, among other
things, "allow any safe harbor applicable to SJUSD to expire on June 8, 2020" and "to be inapplicable to
SJUSD or any local entity that has teleconferencing available or in actual use for hearings...." (Compl. ¶
101.)

Plaintiffs allege that various factual events and matters demonstrate the SJUSD's violation of the
Federal Voting Rights Act (52 U.S.C. §10301(b)), in light of the factors listed in Senate Report No.
97-417(1982), and in the seminal federal voting rights act dilution case of Thornburg v. Gingles 478 U.S.
30, 74 (1986). (Compl. ¶¶ 114-133.)

Plaintiffs allege that the SJUSD Board "chose not to comply in 2020 as an avenue to political
self-preservation and perpetuation of their incumbency." (Compl. ¶ 135.) Specifically, Plaintiffs claim that
three trustees were benefited by the continuation of the at-large system for the 2020 election. They also
complain that by retention of these elected trustees, the current composition of the Board will be in
control of redistricting when the trustee areas are ultimately determined, which will exclude protected
class voting groups from those decisions. (Id.)

Plaintiffs allege that various acts of the Board, its legal counsel, and individual trustees, evidence the
SJUSD's discriminatory intent in delaying the transition of the school district from at-large elections to
trustee area elections prior to the 2020 general election. Those acts include: (1) holding a non-public
meeting with SJUSD legal counsel to discuss the CVRA issues in violation of the Brown Act (Compl.
¶¶80, 111, 138.); (2) the trustees' comments indicating their reticence to complete the transition to
trustee area elections in 2020 (Compl. ¶¶ 131, 137, 147, fns. 13, 27.); (3) SJUSD's surreptitious efforts
to obtain the Governor's safe harbor relief provided in his Executive Orders, while at the same time
indicating that the SJUSD would be moving forward with the transition process; (4) the Board's failure to
state in its resolution 2982 that it would commit to compliance in 2020 (Compl. ¶ 23, 81, 83, 87.); (5) the

MINUTE ORDER  DATE: 08/10/2021   Page 5 
DEPT:  53 Calendar No. 



CASE TITLE: Kincaid vs. San Juan Unified School
District

CASE NO: 34-2020-00286475-CU-CR-GDS

Board's legal counsel's bad faith advice to the Board during a public hearing that the Plaintiffs' request to
increase the Board from 5 to 7 members as part of the CVRA transition required additional steps and
time that precluded transition in 2020 (Com.pl. ¶ 147.); (6) the Board's indication that it needed more
time and community input regarding the proposed increase in trustee seats, and falsely cast blame upon
Plaintiffs' late introduction of the concept as the cause of that additional delay (Compl. ¶¶ 149-150, 173.);
and (7) the Boards misrepresentation that transition to trustee area elections in 2020 would be more
expensive than conducting an at-large election when the opposite was true. (Compl. ¶172.)

The first cause of action for violation of the CVRA incorporates the foregoing allegations. The additional
allegations for that cause of action can be summarized as follows: (1) there is "racial polarized voting" in
the SJUSD, including Latino polarized voting in trustee elections (Compl. ¶¶ 153, 154.); (2) In SJUSD,
at-large election is combined with electoral practices that enhance the dilutive effects of at-large
elections, including the exceptional size of the electoral division, and extended and staggered terms of
office (Compl. ¶ 157.); (3) no Latino candidate who was preferred by Latino voters has been elected in
SJUSD trustee contest since 1994 (Com., ¶ 160.); and (4) there is a "history of discrimination against
Latinos, the use of electoral devices or other voting practices or procedures that may enhance the
dilutive effects of at-large elections, denial of access to those processes determining which groups of
candidates will receive financial or other support in a given election, the extent to which members of a
protected class bear the effects of past discrimination in areas such as education, employment, and
health, which hinder their ability to participate effectively in the political process, and the use of overt or
subtle racial appeals in political campaigns are probative." (Compl. ¶ 161.)

The Court ultimately found that Plaintiffs had not exhausted their administrative remedies filed by the
Legislature as a prerequisite to the CVRA claim under Elections Code section 10010, but overruled the
general demurrer.

Analysis

Elections Code section 10010(e) states that "[b]efore an action to enforce Sections 14027 and 14028, a
prospective plaintiff shall send by certified mail a written notice to the clerk of the political subdivision
against which the action would be brought asserting that the political subdivision's method of conducting
elections may violate the California Voting Rights Act of 2001." (Elec. Code § 10010(e)(1).) Subsection
(e)(2) provides: "A prospective plaintiff shall not commence an action to enforce Sections 14027 and
14028 within 45 days of the political subdivision's receipt of the written notice described in paragraph
(1)." (Emphasis added.) Subsection (e)(3)(A) says: "Before receiving a written notice described in
paragraph (1), or within 45 days of receipt of a notice, a political subdivision may pass a resolution
outlining its intention to transition from at-large to district-based elections, specific steps it will undertake
to facilitate this transition, and an estimated timeframe for doing so." Subsection (e)(3)(B) states "[i]f a
political subdivision passes a resolution pursuant to subparagraph (A), a prospective plaintiff shall not
commence an action to enforce Sections 14027 and 14028 within 90 days of the resolutions passage."

Governor Newsom's Executive Order N-48-20 provides, in relevant part: 

The timeframes set forth in Elections Code section 10010, subdivisions (a) and (e), are suspended as
to any political subdivision of the State. The purpose of this suspension is to protect public health and
safety during the period when the State Public Health Officer and other public health officials have
determined that it is necessary to engage in physical distancing to minimize the spread of COVID-19.
This suspension shall be in effect until further notice. This paragraph pauses the timeframes set forth in
Elections Code section 10010, subdivisions (a) and (e), but does not restart them: this paragraph should
be construed to toll those timeframes, such that days elapsed during the suspension set forth in this
paragraph are not counted, but any days that elapsed prior to that suspension are still counted. This
paragraph shall not preclude a prospective plaintiff from obtaining reimbursement from a political
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subdivision under subdivision (f) of Elections Code section 10010, in the manner set forth in that
subdivision.

The order suspended the running of the 90-day period in which SJUSD was to have an opportunity to
complete the requisite steps to transition to district-based elections. The period is intended to provide
SJUSD with an opportunity to voluntarily remedy Plaintiffs' claims of CVRA violation by transitioning to a
different election method that has first been fully considered by the SJUSD's Board and electorate. The
process includes public hearings of direct interest and consequence to every resident in the district who
would be entitled to be heard on the question of changing from at-large elections and all transition plans.
The Governor's Executive Order N-48-20 suspended the 90da period, and was made to protect the
public health and safety during the pandemic.

The Emergency Services Act, Gov. Code § 8550, et seq., "confers upon the Government broad powers
to deal with such emergencies." (Cal. Corr. Peace Officers Assn. v. Schwarzenneger (2008) 163
Cal.App.4th 802, 811.) The Emergency Services Act centralizes the State's power in the hands of the
governor, reflecting the determination that "[a] public emergency is not a time for uncoordinated,
haphazard, or antagonistic action." (Macias v. California (1995) 10 Cal.4th 844, 858.)

Accordingly, based on the law and facts, Defendant SJUSD argues that summary adjudication of
Plaintiffs' first cause of action is proper due to a failure to exhaust administrative remedies.

Plaintiffs oppose the motion, arguing (1) Defendants have not identified any precedent in which a
governor has ever restricted access to the courts; (2) the Emergency Services Act does not authorize
limitations on judicial review; (3) the governor can suspend laws in order to abate an emergency and has
vast powers over state agencies, but cannot restrict the jurisdiction of the courts; (4) Executive Order
N-48-20 may be unconstitutional on its face. The opposition goes on to allege that no administrative
remedy is available because section 10010 is not an administrative remedy. In short, the opposition
challenges the validity of N-48-20 and its application to Elections Code section 10010. The opposition
also asks that, if the Court grants the motion, it construe it as a motion for judgment on the pleadings
and provide for leave to amend. 

Plaintiffs do not challenge the legality of Elections Code section 10010, or file litigation to challenge the
validity of Executive Order N-48-20. In Newsom v. Superior Court (2021) 63 Cal.App.5th 1099, the Third
District Court of Appeal reviewed the Emergency Services Act, particularly section 8627, and found it
was not an unconstitutional delegation of legislative power. (Id. at 1118.) In Tandon v. Newsom, the
United States Supreme Court reviewed Covid restrictions set in place by Governor Newsom. (Tandon v.
Newsom (2021) 141 S.Ct. 1294. However, that action was related to gathering for at-home religious
exercise and the plaintiffs alleged the limitation violated their First Amendment rights to free exercise,
free speech, and freedom of assembly and their Fourteenth Amendment substantive due process and
equal protection rights. (Id.) The plaintiff sought injunctive relief against the order, and named Governor
Newsom in their challenge. (Id. at 1296-1298.) Justice Kagan dissented, with Justices Breyer and
Sotomayor joining. (Id. at 1298-1299.) Here, by contrast, Plaintiffs did not directly challenge the legalist
or validity of Executive Order N-48-20, and merely allege their failure to comply is excused because the
order is "likely unconstitutional." This is not sufficient. 

Plaintiffs have not created a legitimate dispute of fact to Defendants' separate statement. While Plaintiffs
take issue with the term "safe harbor," the term makes sense in the context of the statute. On reply,
Defendant SJUSD provides authority for other district courts using the term "safe harbor" in discussing
the CVRA. (See Higginson v. Becerra (S.D. Cal. 2019) 363 F.Supp.3d 1118, 1125, aff'd (9th Cir. 2019)
786 Fed.Appx. 705, cert. denied (2020) 140 S.Ct. 2807 ("In 2016, California amended the Elections
Code to require a prospective CVRA plaintiff to notify a political subdivision before filing suit-commonly
known as a safe harbor provision.").) Further, the Court notes that even Plaintiffs' complaint makes
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reference to "safe harbor." (See, e.g., Compl. ¶ 102 ("N-48-20 'suspends deadlines' that constitute a
safe harbor to facilitate alternatives to litigation that enforces the CVRA. Even if the pandemic precludes
or impairs that alternative process, such a condition should not restrict access to the courts for the
enforcement of Sections 14025 to 14031, to which N-48-20 does not even refer.").) 

To the extent Plaintiffs argue that there is a per se violation of section 10010(b), the Court is not
persuaded. Plaintiffs cite in a footnote to "AB 350, Senate Elections Committee Report, at 3 (June 21,
2016)." Plaintiffs also cite in footnote 13 to "AB 350, Senate Elections Committee Report, at 3 (June 21,
2016)." However, Plaintiffs do not cite to any specific language in support of this argument and do not
attach Assembly Bill 350, which was attached to Defendant SJUSD's request for judicial notice as
Exhibit N. Plaintiffs filed a late request for judicial notice on July 26, 2021, which states it is attaching the
Senate Floor Report on A.B. 350, explaining that section 10010(b) "was enacted to avoid shifting
remedial districts from presidential election years, such as 2020, to a later gubernatorial election year,
such as 2022, as this constitutes 'scheduling . . . staggered . . . districts in a manner that would dilute
and suppress the vote of a protected class in violation of the state Votings Rights laws.'" (See
7/26/2021 RJN, emphasis in RJN.) Regardless, the Court is not persuaded by these arguments.
Plaintiffs' complaint is not a challenge to the legality of N-48-20. The complaint alleges, instead: "By its
terms, the Executive Order that SJUSD cites (N-48-20) does not excuse noncompliance and should be
construed so that it does not bar access to the courts." (Compl. ¶ 3.) As addressed above, the Court is
not persuaded by this contention. 

To the extent that Plaintiffs "reserve the issue of whether this motion should have been filed as a Motion
for Judgment on the Pleadings," Code of Civil Procedure section 438(g) explains that a motion for
judgment on the pleadings may be made if the moving party has already demurred to the complaint on
the same grounds as is the basis for the motion for judgment on the pleadings and the demurrer was
overruled, "provided that there has been a material change in applicable case law or statute since
the ruling on the demurrer." Here, there has not be a material change, nor do Plaintiffs allege that to
be the case. As such, Defendant SJUSD was precluded from filing a motion for judgment on the
pleadings. 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court GRANTS Defendant SJUSD's motion for summary adjudication as
to Plaintiffs' first cause of action for violation of the CVRA. 

Defendant SJUSD is directed to prepare a formal order complying with C.C.P. §437c(g) and C.R.C. Rule
3.1312.  

COURT RULING

The matter was argued and submitted.  The Court affirmed the tentative ruling.  

STOLO

MINUTE ORDER  DATE: 08/10/2021   Page 8 
DEPT:  53 Calendar No. 

MINUTE ORDER  DATE: 08/10/2021   Page 8 
DEPT:  53 Calendar No. 


